ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR 


1. 	 The circuit court etted by concluding that Shade did not enter into any enforceable 
arbitration agreement. 

2. 	 The circuit court erred by concluding that Fingerhut could not invoke arbitration 
under the agreements Shade entered. 

viii 



STATEMENT OF THE CASE 


A. Introduction 

For more than six years, Respondent Darlene Shade was a customer of Fingerhut, an 

online and catalogue-based retailer that is a d/b/a of Petitioner Bluestem Brands, Inc. 

During Shade's six years as a Fingerhut customer, she made 43 purchases using a Fingerhut

branded credit account, received her account statements from Fingerhut, and directed her 

payments and inquiries to Fingerhut. Shade's credit was always issued by a banking partner 

of Fingerhut's under written credit agreements, listing Fingerhut's name at the top-and for 

all but the first few months of Shade's customer relationship, those agreements contained 

arbitration provisions. 

When Shade brought this suit raising various challenges to her finance charges, 

Fingerhut therefore moved to compel arbitration. The circuit court should have granted the 

motion to compel because Shade entered into the arbitration agreements, and Fingerhut was 

entitled to enforce them. But instead the circuit court entered Shade's proposed order 

verbatim and denied the motion to compel. Fingerhut therefore appeals to this Court. 

B. Statement of Facts 

Unless otherwise noted, the following facts are undisputed and are taken from 

Shade's proposed order, which the circuit court entered as its own on July 21,2016. 

1. Fingerhut's business and banking partners. 

Fingerhut is a d/b/a of Bluestem, a Delaware corporation with its principal place of 

business in Minnesota. Fingerhut is in the consumer retail business, and it provides a mix of 
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retail and payment options to customers across the United States through direct mail and 

Internet shopping channels. OA 42, Affidavit of Erik Svensen ("Svensen Aff.") ~ 4.) 

As many consumer retailers do, Fingerhut partners with banks to offer credit to its 

customers. Fingerhut's current banking partner is WebBank. OA 597, July 21,2016, Circuit 

Ct. Order ("7/21/2016 Order'') m4-5.) WebBank is an FDIC-insured bank headquartered 

in Salt Lake City, Utah OA 597, 7/21/2016 Order ~ 4;JA 42, Svensen Aff. ~ 5), and it offers 

revolving credit accounts that customers can use to buy merchandise from Fingerhut. OA 

597,7/21/2016 Order ~~ 4-5.) Fingerhut, in tUm, services all of the credit accounts for 

WebBank. (Id..) Before it partnered with WebBank, Fingerhut partnered with another bank, 

MetaBank, to offer financing to its customers. (Id. ~ 11.) And before MetaBank, Fingerhut 

partnered with CIT Bank. (!d.) Under each partnership, Fingerhut serviced Shade's account. 

(Id. ~ 5.) 

2. 	 Shade's lengthy customer relationship with Fingerhut and 
use of credit under written credit agreements. 

Respondent Darlene Shade made her first purchase from Fingerhut on October 2, 

2006. OA 43-44, Svensen Af£ ~~ 6, 10.) Over the next several years, Shade continued to be a 

Fingerhut customer. She made dozens of purchases over the years-all on credit 

continuing until her final purchase on March 20, 2013. OA 48-52, Svensen Aff. ~~ 25,30, 

41,44.) From start to finish, the extension of credit to Shade was governed by written 

agreements, and for all but the first few months, those agreements contained arbitration 

provisions. Because Shade assented to each of the agreements, the governing agreement for 

purposes of Fingerhut's motion to compel arbitration is the most recent agreement, which 
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Shade entered in 2013. Shade, however, disputes entering into any of the agreements, so 

Fingerhut addresses each one. 

a. The original 2006 Agreement. 

Shade made her very first Fingerhut purchase on October 2, 2006, and she used a 

Fingerhut-branded credit account to do so. She applied for the account by phone, received 

immediate approval, and used the account to make her purchase. (JA 43~4, Id. ~~ 6, 10.) 

Fingerhut promptly sent a Welcome Packet to Shade that included both a welcome letter 

and the written agreement governing her account-the CIT Bank Fingerhut Credit Account 

Agreement (the "2006 Agreement"). (JA 597, 7/21/2016 Order ~ 7;JA 44, Svensen Aff. ~~ 

11-12.)1 As did every subsequent agreement, the 2006 Agreement included a change-of

terms provision providing for future amendments. (JA 633; 7/21/2016 Order ~ 8;JA 45, 

Svensen Af£ ~ 13;JA 59, Svensen Af£ Ex. B.) 

h. The 2007 Agreement. 

A few months after Shade opened her account, the credit agreement was amended to 

add an arbitration provision, effective as ofJuly 2007 (the "2007 Agreement"). (JA 598, 

7/21/2016 Order ~ 9;JA 45, Svensen Af£ ~ 16.) Fingerhut sent a copy of the 2007 

Agreement with the arbitration provision to customers in their May 2007 billing statements. 

(JA 598, 7/21/2016 Order ~ 9; JA 45, Svensen Af£ ~ 17; JA 62, Svensen Aff. Ex. C.) The 

Agreement was accompanied by a notice informing customers that they could opt out of the 

changes, including the arbitration provision, if they wanted to. (JA 62, Svensen Aff. Ex. C.) 

t Although the circuit court found that CIT Bank sent the Welcome Packet and 2006 
Agreement (7/21/2016 Order ~ 7), it was actually Fingerhut, through its vendor, that did so. 
(Svensen Af£ ~~ 11-15.) Shade did not dispute this fact in the circuit court. 
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Shade received the notice and the 2007 Agreement but did not opt out of the changes. 

Instead, she made additional purchases using her account on July 12, 2007. O"A 46, Svensen 

Aff. ~ 21.) 

The arbitration provision in the 2007 Agreement applies broadly to any "claim, 

dispute or controversy (whether in contract, regulatory, tort or otherwise, whether pre

existing, present or future and including constitutional, statutory, common law, intentional 

tort and equitable claims) arising from or relating to the credit offered or provided to you; 

the actions of yourself, us, or third parties." GA 63, Svensen Aff. Ex. C.) It also allows any 

party to invoke the right to arbitrate: 

Arbitration. By requesting an Account from us and accepting 
this Agreement, you agree that if a dispute of any kind arises out 
of this Agreement, either you or we, at our sole discretion, can 
choose to have that dispute resolved by binding arbitration. If 
arbitration is chosen by any party ... you will not have the right 
to participate as a representative or member of any class of 
claimants pertaining to any claim subject to arbitration. 

(Id.) 

c. The 2010 Agreement. 

After Shade had been a Fingerhut customer for approximately three years, Fingerhut 

switched its banking partner to MetaBank. GA 47, Svensen Aff. ~ 23.) In January 2010, 

Fingerhut sent a letter notifying Shade that MetaBank would be purchasing her account and 

included a copy of the MetaBank Credit Account Agreement (the "2010 Agreement"). (Id.) 

The 2010 Agreement provided that it would become the governing agreement "from the 

first time a transaction is posted to your Account." GA 48, Id. ~ 25; JA 69, Svensen Aff. Ex. 

E.) After Shade received the 2010 Agreement, she indicated her assent to it by making 
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extensive use of the credit it provided, placing thirty-four orders on credit between March 

13,2010 and June 12,2012. OA 48-49, Svensen Aff. ~~ 25,30.) 

The 2010 Agreement includes an arbitration provision that broadly covers "any claim, 

dispute or controversy (whether in contract, regulatory, tort or otherwise, whether pre

existing, present or future and including constitutional, statutory, common law, intentional 

tort, and equitable claims) arising from or relating to the credit offered or provided to you; 

the actions of yourself, us, or third parties." GA 69, Svensen Aff. Ex. E.) The provision 

allows any party to select arbitration to resolve a covered dispute: 

Arbitration. By requesting an Account from us and accepting 
this Agreement, you agree that if a dispute of any kind arises out 
of this Agreement, either you or we, at our sole discretion, can 
choose to have that dispute resolved by binding arbitration. If 
arbitration is chosen by any party ... you will not have the right 
to participate as a representative or member of any class of 
claimants pertaining to any claim subject to arbitration. 

OA 69, Svensen Aff. Ex. E.) 

d. The 2012 and 2013 Agreements. 

After two years of working with MetaBank, Fingerhut switched its consumer banking 

relationship to WebBank. GA 598-99, 7/21/2019 Order ~ 11.) The credit agreements issued 

by WebBank are the controlling agreements for purposes of this appeal because they are the 

ones that governed Shade's account up through the end of her Fingerhut relationship. 

Fingerhut sent notice to Shade of the change to WebBank in her June 2012 billing 

statement. OA 599, Id ~ 16.) It is undisputed that Shade received that statement, as 

evidenced by her use of its payment stub to mail a payment to Fingerhut in early July 2012. 

GA 80, Svensen AfE. Ex. I.) WebBank's purchase of Shade's account from MetaBank took 
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place in June (JA 598-99, 7/21/2016 Order ~~ 11, 15), and the WebBank Fingerhut Credit 

Account Agreement (the "2012 Agreement'') became the governing agreement for her 

account as ofJuly 1, 2012. (JA 599, 7/21/2016 Order ~ 16;JA 78, Svensen Aff. Ex. H.) The 

2012 Agreement provided that it would become the governing agreement "from the first 

time a transaction is posted to your Account." GA 78, Svensen Aff. Ex. H.) Shade assented 

to the 2012 Agreement by using the credit it provided, placing seven orders on credit 

between August and December 2012. (JA 50-51, Svensen Aff. ~~ 35,41.) 

The credit agreement was amended one final time on March 7, 2013 (the "2013 

Agreement''). (JA 599, 7/21/2016 Order ~ 17.) Fingerhut sent notice of the change to Shade 

in her December 2012 billing statement. (It/.) Shade received the statement, as evidenced by 

her use of its payment stub to mail a payment in early January 2013. (JA 87, Svensen Aff. Ex. 

L.) The 2013 Agreement provided that it would become the governing agreement "from the 

first time a transaction is posted to your Account." GA 84, Svensen Aff. Ex. J.) Shade 

assented to the 2013 Agreement by using the credit it provided to make a final Fingerhut 

purchase on March 20,2013, after the 2013 Agreement became effective. (JA 52, Svensen 

Aff. ~ 44.) 

The arbitration provision was unchanged from the 2012 Agreement to the 2013 

Agreement, so for purposes of this appeal, the two agreements can be treated as one. Both 

agreements advise customers to review the arbitration provision carefully and provide that 

"either you or we" may elect arbitration: 

Arbitration. Please review this provision carefully. It provides 
that any dispute may be resolved by binding arbitration. 
Arbitration replaces the right to go to court and the right to 
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have a jury decide a dispute. Under this provision, your rights 
may be substantially limited in the event of a dispute. You may 

opt out of this Arbitration provision by following the 

instructions below. 

By accepting this Agreement, unless you opt out by following 
the instructions below, you agree that either you or we, at our 

sole discretion, can choose to have any dispute arising out of or 
relating to this Agreement or our relationship resolved by 
binding arbitration. If arbitration is chosen by any party, neither 
you nor we will have the right to litigate that dispute in court or 
to have a jury trial on that dispute .... In addition, you will not 

have the right to participate as a representative or member of 
any class of claimants pertaining to any dispute subject to 

arbitration. 

OA 84, Svensen Aff. Ex. J.) The arbitration provision broadly applies to any dispute "arising 

from or relating to" the Agreement: 

For purposes of this Arbitration provision, "dispute" shall be 
construed as broadly as possible, and shall include any claim, 
dispute or controversy (whether in contract, regulatory, tort or 
otherwise, whether pre-existing, present or future and including 

constitutional, statutory, common law, intentional tort and 
equitable claims) arising from or relating to this Agreement, the 

credit offered or provided to you, or the goods or services you 

purchase; the actions of yourself, us, or third parties; or the 
validity of this Agreement or this Arbitration provision. It 

includes disputes brought as counterclaims, cross claims, or 
third party claims .... Disputes brought as part of a class action 

or other representative basis are subject to arbitration on an 
individual (non-class, non-representative) basis. IF YOU DO 
NOT OPT OUT, THEN YOU WILL HAVE WAIVED 
YOUR RIGHT TO INDICATE OR PARTICIPATE IN A 
CLASS ACTION RELATED TO THIS AGREEMENT. 
In this Arbitration provision the words ''we'' "us" and "our", " 
shall include WebBank and any assignees of any of WebBank's 
rights, any merchant from which you purchased goods or 
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services using your Account, as well as their respective affiliates, 
servicers, employees, agents, and further assIgns. 

(Id.) Although Shade was given the choice to opt out of the arbitration provision, she did not 

do so. GA 53, Svensen Aff. ~ 49.) 

c. Procedural History of this Case. 

This case originated as a debt-collection suit against Shade. Shade stopped making 

payments on her account, so this suit was filed on July 6, 2015, in Berkeley County Circuit 

Court by Midland Funding, LLC, which was pursuing collection on Shade's account. GA 54, 

!d. ~ 50.) On September 15, 2015, the Court entered a default judgment against Shade. After 

Shade retained counsel, however, Midland agreed to vacate the default judgment. Shade then 

filed an amended answer and counterclaim against Midland. In addition, she filed a third

party class action complaint against Fingerhut. 

Shade's third-party complaint against Fingerhut is the pleading at issue in this appeaL 

The claims in the complaint raise various challenges to the finance charges that Shade paid 

under the 2007, 2010, 2012, and 2013 Agreements. Specifically, Shade alleges that Fingerhut 

violated the West Virginia Consumer Credit and Protection Act, W. Va. Code § 46A-1-101, 

et seq., by: (1) charging unfair late fees; (2) charging usurious interest rates; (3) failing to notify 

the West Virginia Tax Department that Fingerhut allegedly makes consumer credit sales in 

the state; and (4) engaging in unfair or deceptive acts by charging usurious rates. Shade also 

seeks to represent a class of other Fingerhut customers. 

In the circuit court, Fingerhut moved to compel arbitration of all of Shade's claims. 

Citing controlling law under the Federal Arbitration Act (FAA), Fingerhut demonstrated that 

because Shade had repeatedly used the credit provided by the 2007, 2010, 2012, and 2013 
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Agreements, she was precluded from denying that those Agreements applied, and she was 

therefore required to arbitrate under them. Shade opposed the motion and submitted a 

proposed order to the Court after the briefing was closed. The circuit court adopted Shade's 

proposed order verbatim. That order provides that Fingerhut could not enforce the 

arbitration agreements because (1) Shade did not manifest assent to the arbitration 

agreements, and (2) Fingerhut is not a party to the arbitration agreements. OA 516-17, 

7/21/2016 Order.) These are errors oflaw, and the court's July 21, 2016, order should be 

reversed. 

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT 

This Court should reverse the circuit court and order Shade to proceed with her 

claims in arbitration because she assented to several, successive credit agreements containing 

arbitration provisions, her claims are covered by those provisions, and Fingerhut is entitled 

to invoke arbitration under them. 

Shade manifested assent to each of the 2007,2010,2012, and 2013 Agreements by 

using credit under them after she received the agreements or notice thereof, had the 

opportunity to opt out of them, and chose not to do so. A party may manifest assent to a 

contract by conduct, see New v. GameStop, Inc., 232 W. Va. 564,572-73, 753 S.E.2d 62, 70-71 

(2013), and that is what Shade did. 

Each of the circuit court's reasons for concluding that Shade did not assent-such as 

her lack ofverbal agreement or a signature or the fact that the original arbitration agreement 

was made by amendment-is wrong as a matter of basic contract law, and numerous courts 

have so held. See, e.g., Schultz v. AT & T Wireless Seros., Inc., 376 F. Supp. 2d 685, 691-92 
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(N.D. W. Va. 2005); Hiil v. Gateway 2000, Inc., 105 F.3d 1147 (7th Cit. 1997). Indeed, less 

than a year ago, one court construing the very same 2013 Agreement that is at issue here 

compelled arbitration under materially similar circumstances. Campos v. Bluestem Brands, Inc., 

2016 WL 297429, at *9 (D. Or. Jan. 22, 2016). The circuit court believed that this Court's 

finding that no contract was formed in State ex reI. U-Haul Co. ofW. Va. v. Zakaib, 232 W. 

Va. 432, 752 S.E.2d 586 (2013), required the same finding here. But that is incorrect because 

that case concerned the incorporation-by-reference doctrine, while this case does not. In 

addition, the U-Haul arbitration addendum in that case was disguised as a marketing 

document and was provided only after the fact, whereas the arbitration agreements here 

plainly declared themselves to be arbitration agreements, and Shade had the chance to opt 

out of them. As a matter of law, Shade entered into each successive credit agreement. 

Finally, the circuit court erred in concluding that Fingerhut could not enforce the 

arbitration agreements with Shade as a non-party, because under "[w]ell-established common 

law principles," a "nonsignatory can enforce ... an arbitration provision within a contract 

executed by other parties." Int'l Paper Co. v. Schwabedissen Maschinen & Anlagen GMBH, 206 

F.3d 411, 416-17 (4th Cit. 2000). Here, Fingerhut may invoke the arbitration agreements by 

virtue of the plain language of the 2012 and 2013 Agreements, as well as under principles of 

equitable estoppel and agency. 

Fingerhut may invoke arbitration under the 2012 and 2013 Agreements because the 

arbitration provisions in those Agreements expressly allow "any merchant from which you 

purchased goods or services using your Account" to invoke arbitration, and Fingerhut is 

such a merchant. Courts regularly allow third parties described in arbitration agreements to 
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enforce them, see Sherer v. Green Tree Servicing ILC, 548 F.3d 379, 382 (5th Cir. 2008); Blinco v. 

Green Tree Servicing LLC, 400 F.3d 1308, 1312 (11 th Cir. 2005), and the plain language of the 

2012 and 2013 Agreements allows Fingerhut to do just that. 

Fingerhut may also enforce the arbitration agreements as a matter of equitable 

estoppel, as authorized by the Supreme Court and this Court. See ArthurAndersen u..,p v. 

Carlisle, 556 U.S. 624, 631 (2009); Chesapeake Appalachia, LLC, v. Hickman, 236 W. Va. 421, 

440, 781 S.E.2d 198,217 (2015). It is black-letter law that non-signatories can be bound 

when they are "closely related to the dispute such that it becomes foreseeable that the non

signatory may benefit from or be subject to" the clause at issue, Caperton v. A.T. Massey Coal 

Co., 225 W. Va. 128, 153,690 S.E.2d 322, 347(2009), and thatis precisely the case here. 

Shade's claims challenge interest rates and late fees arising from and related to the very 

contracts containing the arbitration provisions, so Fingerhut may invoke those provisions. 

Finally, Fingerhut may enforce the arbitration provisions as the agent of its partner 

banks in implementing the credit agreements under common-law agency principles. See State 

ex reI. Clark v. Blue Cross Blue Shield ojw. Va., Inc., 203 W. Va. 690, 714-15, 510 S.E.2d 764, 

788-89 (1998). Courts regularly allow agents to enforce arbitration agreements executed by 

their principals, see, e.g., Pritzker v. Merrill ynch, Pierce, Fenner & Smith, Inc., 7 F.3d 1110, 1122 

(3d Cir. 1993), because doing so prevents parties to those agreements from strategically 

circumventing them by suing only a non-signatory agent. Fingerhut undisputedly acted as the 

agent of its partner banks: It is referenced at the top of each agreement, and it did the 

marketing, opening, and servicing of the credit accounts. 
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Because Shade entered into valid arbitration agreements, because those agreements 

cover Shade's claims against Fingerhut, and because Fingerhut may enforce them, the circuit 

court erred in denying Fingerhut's motion to compel arbitration. Its July 21,2016 order 

should be reversed. 

STATEMENT REGARDING ORAL ARGUMENT AND DECISION 

Oral argument is necessary and appropriate in this case because it involves 

assignments of error in the application of settled law requiring the arbitration of disputes. See 

W. Va. R. App. P. 19(a)(1). The case is not appropriate for a memorandum decision. 

Fingerhut does not request time above and beyond the minimum ten minutes allotted under 

Rule 19(e). 

ARGUMENT 

Shade opened a Fingerhut-branded credit account, accepted the credit offered by 

Fingerhut's banking partners through the account, and used that credit repeatedly over

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