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

services that are offered under a written agreement, yet deny that the agreement governs the 

relationship," misses the point, because there was no agreement that governed the relationship 

between Bluestem and Ms. Shade.6 To the extent the Court does consider the illusory issue, 

Bluestem's arguments fail in this regard as well. 

Bluestem criticizes the Circuit Court for failing to cite and apply a provision of West 

Virginia statute that pern1its a creditor to "change the terms of the revolving charge account. .. 

whether or not the change is authorized by prior agreement." Pet. Br. at 24, citing W. Va. Code § 

46A-3-116(2). First of all, Bluestem itself never cited this authority below, let alone suggested 

that it had any bearing on these issues. In any event, no West Virginia statute authorizes a 

creditor to constantly sell accounts without providing borrowers with notice of changes in 

material terms. The Circuit Court thus correctly recognized that, when one party attempts to 

modify a contract, it has the burden of proof to demonstrate that the "minds of the parties 

definitely met on the alteration" and this "burden is not sustained, as a matter of law, by merely 

showing that the adverse party failed to protest the change." (JA 648, citing Syl. pt. 2, Manto v. 

Gillooly, 107 W. Va. 151, 147 S.E. 542, (1929)). The Circuit Court was right to find that the 

Banks' constant sale of the accounts and modification of the Agreements without sufficient 

notice rendered them illusory. 

6 Bluestem's reliance on Schwartz v. Comcas! Corp., 256 F. App'x 515 (3d Cir. 2007) for this 
proposition, Pet. Br. at 24-25, misses the mark because in that case, the Third Circuit found that 
the defendant had delivered a subscription agreement containing an arbitration agreement to the 
plaintiff at the inception of the relationship. 256 F. App'x at 518. In this case, there were no 
arbitration agreements at the inception of the relationship. 

20 



III. 	 The Circuit Court Correctly Found that Bluestem Could Not Bind Ms. Shade to 
Agreements to Which It Was Not a Party. 

The Circuit Court correctly found that Ms. Shade did not agree to arbitrate with Bluestem 

when Bluestem was not a party to the 2007 or 2010 Agreements, and the 2012 and 2013 

Agreements were never sent to Ms. Shade. Bluestem nonetheless attempts to invoke the 

arbitration provisions in the 2007 and 2010 Agreements to which it was not a party by two 

theories: equitable estoppel and agency.7 This argument should fail out of the gate because 

Bluestem has expressly invoked the 2013 Agreement as the only supposedly valid agreement to 

arbitrate. (JA 31.) Moreover, because Ms. Shade's claims do not arise from any of the 

agreements, neither estoppel theory overcomes Bluestem's complete absence from these 

contracts. 

A. 	 Bluestem cannot rely on equitable estoppel to invoke arbitration under the 
Agreements because Ms. Shade does not rely on the Bank Agreements for her 
claims against Bluestem 

Bluestem contends that Ms. Shade's claims against it are so "inextricably intertwined" 

with the Bank Agreements that she is equitably estopped from preventing Bluestem from 

invoking the arbitration clauses in those Agreements. The actual allegations in the Complaint 

demonstrate otherwise. The Complaint makes clear that Ms. Shade's claims do not arise out of 

any agreement with WebBank. Ms. Shade had no dealings with WebBank and does not bring 

claims against WebBank. (JA 9-11, id. at ~~ 17-19,31-33,47.) 

Rather, all of Ms. Shade's claims arise from her dealings with Bluestem and are directed 

solely against Bluestem. (Id. at ~ 33.) In order to purchase products, Ms. Shade would call 

7 Ms. Shade does not dispute that the 2012 and 2013 Agreements - but not the 2007 or 2010 
Agreements - contain general language giving merchants the right to invoke arbitration. Pet. Bf. 
at 27-29. However, those later Agreements were never provided to Ms. Shade and she did not 
assent to them. Nor has Bluestem met its burden of demonstrating WebBank's intention that 
Bluestem was a third party with the right to invoke arbitration. See Pet. Bf. at 28, citing JA 84, 
Svensen Aff. Ex. 1. 
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Bluestem, speak to a Bluestem representative, and place orders over the phone. (ld. at ~~ 36, 43

44.) Bluestem would mail Ms. Shade's purchases to her home, and add the cost of the purchases 

to her balance, which was reported to Ms. Shade on her monthly statement from Bluestem. (ld. at 

~ 45.) Bluestem billed Ms. Shade directly via statements sent through the mail for items she 

purchased, and Ms. Shade made her payments directly to Bluestem. (Id. at ~~ 39-41.) 

Ms. Shade's claims against Bluestem are for unlawful late charges, usury, failure to 

notify the State Tax Department, and unfair and deceptive acts and practices by making and 

collecting usurious consumer credit sales and charging and collecting excess charges without a 

license. (ld. at ~~ 54-77.) Each of these claims arises solely from Bluestem' s illegal debt 

collection conduct and is not dependent upon any agreement between Ms. Shade and WebBank. 

The Complaint indeed makes clear that Ms. Shade's claims for illegal debt collection arise from 

the direct communications from Bluestem, and not from any agreements with the Banks. Ms. 

Shade alleges that Bluestem charged interest on Ms. Shade's unpaid balances every month. (ld. 

at ~ 46.) Each monthly statement that Bluestem sent to Plaintiff included an interest charge at the 

rate of at least 24.99% per year. (ld. at ~ 51.) After Ms. Shade began having trouble paying her 

obligations to Bluestem, Bluestem assessed late fees exceeding $15 to Ms. Shade after her first 

and all subsequent late payments. (Id. at ~~ 52-53.) 

This Court has only commented twice, and has never issued any syllabus points, on 

Defendant's theory that a non-signatory may invoke equitable estoppel to compel arbitration 

against a signatory to an arbitration agreement. In Chesapeake Appalachia, L. L. C. v. Hickman, 

236 W. Va. 421, 781 S.E.2d 198 (2015), the Court recognized the inverse situation: that a 

signatory to an arbitration agreement cannot require a non-signatory to arbitrate unless the non

signatory is bound under some traditional theory of contract and agency law. The five traditional 
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theories under which a signatory to an arbitration agreement may bind a non-signatory are: (1) 

incorporation by reference; (2) assumption; (3) agency; (4) veil-piercing/alter ego; and (5) 

estoppel. Syi. pt. 10, Chesapeake. The Chesapeake Court found nothing in the record before it to 

suggest that the non-signatories had agreed to be bound by any arbitration clause under any 

theory. 

Bluestem's argument presents the opposite situation of a non-signatory attempting to 

bind a purported signatory to an arbitration agreement. Of that circumstance, the Chesapeake 

Court only quoted the Second Circuit's decision in Merrill Lynch Inv. Managers v. Optibase, 

Ltd., 337 F.3d 125, 131 (2d Cir. 2003), as follows: 

Thus a willing non-signatory seeking to arbitrate with a signatory that is 
unwilling may do so under what has been called an alternative estoppel theory, 
which takes into consideration the relationships of persons, wrongs and issues. But a 
willing signatory, .. seeking to arbitrate with a non-signatory that is unwilling ... must 
establish at least one of the five theories described in Thomson-CSF, 64 F.3d at 776
80. 

In Caperton v. A. T Massey Coal Co., Inc., 225 W. Va. 128,690 S.E,2d 322 (2009), the Court 

considered whether non-signatories may benefit from or be subject to a forum selection clause. 

Consistent with the Court's observation in Chesapeake, the Caperton Court found that the non

signatory must be closely related to the dispute such that it becomes foreseeable that the non

signatory may benefit from or be subject to the forum selection clause. 

The Fourth Circuit has had more occasions to opine on this issue. That court has 

recognized that, in some circumstances, "theories arising out of common law principles of 

contract and agency law are used to bind nonsignatories to arbitration agreements." R.J Griffin 

& Co. v. Beach Club II Homeowners Ass'n, 384 F.3d 157, 160 (4th Cir. 2004) (affirming denial 

of motion to compel arbitration when claim arose from extra-contractual duties), In the 

arbitration context, "the doctrine applies when one party attempts to hold another party to the 
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terms of an agreement while simultaneously trying to avoid the agreement's arbitration clause." 

Id. The pivotal issue is "whether the plaintiff has asserted claims in the underlying suit that, 

either literally or obliquely, assert a breach of a duty created by the contract containing the 

arbitration clause." Am. Bankers Ins. Group, Inc. v. Long, 453 F.3d 623, 629 (4th Cir. 2006) 

(finding equitable estoppel when claims were dependent upon allegation that party "breached a 

duty created solely by the Note"). 

An analogous decision out of the Southern District of West Virginia demonstrates how 

these principles are applied in the context of debt collection claims under the West Virginia 

Consumer Credit and Protection Act. In Miller v. Dell Financial Services, LLC, No. 5:08-cv

01184, 2009 WL 5794126 (S.D. W. Va. June 23, 2009), the Honorable Thomas E. Johnston 

considered whether a non-signatory plaintiff could be compelled to arbitrate his claims with a 

debt collector who had entered into an otherwise valid arbitration agreement with plaintiffs 

wife. The court first noted that, as a non-signatory, Mr. Miller could not be compelled to arbitrate 

his claims absent some equitable principle. Finding that "elaboration is warranted," the court 

recited the principles above from Long, and then concluded that, "[s]tated differently, the 

nonsignatory must be suing to enforce a duty arising from the contract or, similarly, be suing to 

recover damages for a breach of a duty in the contract. Where, however, the nonsignatory sues to 

enforce a duty that derives not from the contract, but from statute or common law, the contract's 

arbitration clause will be irrelevant." 2009 WL 5794126, at *5. 

In Miller, the husband plaintiff's claims were "predicated on allegations that DFS's debt 

collection activities violated various provisions of West Virginia law." Id. As such, the 

defendant's duties to the plaintiff "arise by virtue of its status as debt collector" and all of the 

plaintiff's other claims, sounding in tort, "arise from DFS's duty to refrain from committing 
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tortious actions within the State. None of the rights Richard seeks to vindicate implicate a duty of 

DFS contained in the Agreement, either literally or obliquely." Id. (emphasis added). The court 

therefore rejected the debt collector's "creative argument" that the husband plaintiff benefitted 

from the agreement by making purcbases with his wife's account. The court found that this 

argument "misses the point": "Any benefit Richard may have received from buying computer 

equipment from Michelle's account is tangential to the claims raised in the complaint. Richard is 

neither a party to the Agreement, nor is he suing to enforce a right contained in the Agreement. 

Therefore, he cannot be compelled to arbitrate under an equitable estoppel theory." Id. at *6. See 

also Haskins v. First Am. Title Ins. Co., 866 F.Supp. 2d 343, 351-2 (D.N.J. 2012) (denying 

motion to compel arbitration in case alleging violations of New Jersey Consumer Fraud Act upon 

finding that non-signatory plaintiffs were not seeking to exploit a provision in an insurance 

contract, but "simply seeking to assure that First American complies with its filed rates" and 

state statute). 8 

Here, as in Miller and Haskins, Ms. Shade is not attempting to assert any rights 

dependent upon the Bank Agreements. Her Complaint does not reference those Agreements or 

rely on either those Agreements or any breach of a duty created by those Agreements. Instead, 

she seeks only to challenge non-signatory Bluestem's compliance with West Virginia statute. 

She therefore cannot be compelled to arbitrate under those Agreements with Bluestem. See 

8 The Miller decision presents claims more closely analogous to Plaintiffs claims here than those 
in Riley v. BMO Harris Bank, N.A., 64 F.Supp. 3d 92 (D.D.C. 2014) and the other payday loan 
cases outside of West Virginia relied on by Petitioner at p. 33. In Riley, the plaintiffs claims not 
only arose out of her loan agreements but the court found that "her entire case depends upon the 
alleged illegality of the underlying payday loans and is premised on the notion that BMO was 
unaware that it was assisting [signatory] in the collection of usurious debts. The agreements 
setting forth the terms of those loans thus are indispensable to and intertwined with her claims 
against BMO." 64 F. Supp. 3d at 1178. Here, unlike in Riley, Ms. Shade does not allege and need 
not prove that the terms of any agreements were illegal. 
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Miller, at *6; see also Fletcher Mach. Co., Inc. v. Trent Capital Mgmt., Inc., No.1 :09-cv-160, 

2010 WL 520871, at *5 (M.D. N.C. Feb. 9,2010) (rejecting equitable estoppel argument when 

the basis for plaintiffs' claims was not the contract, but rather ERISA and the tort of negligent 

misrepresentation); Williamsport Realty, LLCv. LKQPenn-Mar, Inc., No. 3:14-cv-118, 2015 

WL 2354598, at *6 (N.D. W. Va. May 15,2015) (refusing to apply equitable estoppel because 

plaintiff was "not seeking to enforce rights contained in the APA"); NTCH-West Tenn, Inc. v. 

ZTE USA, Inc., No.1 :11-cv-01169, 2012 WL 12551251 (W.D. Tenn. Mar. 30,2012) (denying 

motion to compel arbitration under equitable estoppel theory when defendant had not presented 

any undisputed material facts establishing that plaintiff received a direct benefit from the 

contract and was thus required to arbitrate the dispute). 

The remaining cases cited by Bluestem, Pet. Br. at 31-32, do not compel a different 

result. Most of the decisions involve blatantly contractual claims. See Hughes Masonry Co. v. 

Greater Clark Cnty. Sch. Bldg. Corp., 659 F.2d 836, 838-39 (7th Cir. 1981) (finding plaintiff is 

"attempting to hold l.A. to the terms of the [agreement]" and that complaint was "thus 

fundamentally grounded in l.A.'s alleged breach of the obligations assigned to it in the 

[agreement]"); McBro Planning & Dev. Co. v. Triangle Elec. Constr. Co., 741 F.2d 342, 344 

(11 th Cir. 1984) (relying on Hughes Masonry to find that contractor's claims were "intimately 

founded in and intertwined with the underlying contract obligations"); Sunkist Soft Drinks v. 

Sunkist Growers, 10 F.3d 753, 758 (lith Cir. 1993) (plaintiffs claims contend that nonsignatory 

caused signatory party "to violate various terms and provisions of the license agreement" and 

"[e]ach claim asserted by Sunkist makes reference to the license agreement"). Finally, JJ Ryan 

& Sons, Inc. v. Rhone Poulenc Textile, 863 F.2d 315 (4th Cir. 1988) is plainly inapposite, as the 

court there applied equitable estoppel to claims against a parent company and its subsidiary when 
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the parent was a non-party to the agreement, based on the fact that both were defendants and the 

charges against them were "based on the same facts and are inherently inseparable." 

Because Ms. Shade's claims do not depend upon or arise from the Bank Agreements, 

Bluestem's attempt to rely on those Agreements as a non-signatory under an equitable estoppel 

theory must fail. 

B. 	 Bluestem did not preserve its agency argument below, and the law of agency does 
not permit Bluestem to invoke arbitration under the Agreements. 

Bluestem's final effort to bind Ms. Shade to an agreement never entered into by these 

parties nor received by Plaintiff is through the law of agency. Bluestem complains that the 

Circuit Court ignored this argument, but the truth is it was not raised below so as to preserve it 

on appeal. The agency concept was not mentioned once in Bluestem's opening brief, and in its 

reply brief Bluestem stated only in passing in the midst of its equitable estoppel argument that 

"Bluestem was an agent of MetaBank and CIT Bank in servicing Shade's account" --without any 

development of argument or evidence in support of that assertion. (JA 587.) 

This Court's general rule is that, "absent the most extraordinary circumstances, legal 

theories not raised properly in the lower court cannot be broached for the first time on appeal." 

State v. Miller, 197 W. Va. 588, 597,476 S.E.2d 535,544 (1996); see also Breza v. Ohio County 

Bd. ofEduc., 201 W. Va. 398,497 S.E.2d 548, fn. 3 (1997) (declining to address affirmative 

defense not asserted before circuit court on appeal) (citing Whitlow v. Bd. ofEduc. ofKanawha 

County, 190 W. Va. 223,226,438 S.E.2d 15, 18 (1993) ("facts underlying ... [an] issue will not 

have been developed in such a way so that a disposition can be made on appeal"»; McGlinchey 

v. Frye, No. 11-0591,2011 WL 8193581, at fn. 6 (W. Va. Nov. 10,2011) (refusing to discuss 

various arguments not raised below in the first instance on appeal.) The rule that errors assigned 

for the first time in an appellate court will not be regarded has been invoked "with a near 
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religious fervor" and "cannot be dismissed lightly as a mere technicality. The rule is founded

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